RECEIVED

Jun 30 2025

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Kristi F. Curtis, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case Number 2025-000403

Lauren Chambers Tracy,

Respondent,

v.

Elijah Osama Mustafa,

Appellant.

AMENDED INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

June 30, 2025

By: s/Hannah D. Stetson

Reginald W. Belcher, SC Bar # 11710

Hannah D. Stetson, SC Bar # 101507

Turner Padgett Graham & Laney P.A.

Post Office Box 1473

Columbia, South Carolina 29202

(803) 254-2200

rbelcher@turnerpadgett.com

hstetson@turnerpadgett.com

**ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT ELIJAH
OSAMA MUSTAFA**

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the trial court erroneously deny Appellant's Motion for Entry of Satisfaction of Judgment Based On Agreement Dated January 31, 2018 despite the clear and unambiguous language of the Agreement requiring prompt satisfaction?

2. Did the trial court erroneously deny Appellant's Motion for Relief from Judgment Pursuant to Rule 60 of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure, depriving Appellant of his due process rights and in contravention to applicable legal standards?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This appeal arises from a \$4,198,672.14 judgment (“Judgment”) against Appellant Elijah Osama Mustafa (“Mustafa” or “Appellant”), arising out of a motor-vehicle accident involving Appellant and Respondent Lauren Chambers Tracy (“Respondent” or “Tracy”). The trial court denied entry of satisfaction of the judgment and further denied relief from judgment, even though the judgment deprived Mustafa of his due process rights and the failure to satisfy the judgment defied the plain language of an unambiguous agreement between the parties, which requires Tracy to promptly satisfy the judgment against Mustafa. This Court should reverse the trial court’s erroneous Orders denying Mustafa’s requested relief to remedy the same.

A. August 6, 2016 Motor Vehicle Accident.

This personal injury action arises from an August 6, 2016 motor vehicle accident between Tracy and Mustafa. Mustafa operated a motor vehicle which made contact with the rear of a motor vehicle in which Tracy was a passenger. Mustafa’s vehicle was originally stopped behind the vehicle in which Tracy was a passenger. (Affidavit of Mustafa, Exhibit 1). After the traffic light turned green, both vehicles accelerated and then slowed for traffic, leading Mustafa’s vehicle to make contact with Tracy’s vehicle. (Affidavit of Mustafa, Exhibit 1).

At the time of the accident, Travelers’ Property Casualty Insurance Company (“Travelers”) was the primary insurance carrier for Appellant Mustafa. Travelers had issued an automobile liability insurance policy to Osama Mustafa¹ and Appellant Mustafa. The Travelers policy had coverage limits in the amount of \$250,000.00 per person and \$500,000.00 per accident.

B. Pre-Suit Settlement Agreement.

Prior to the filing of any lawsuit relating to the subject motor-vehicle accident, Respondent

¹ Osama Mustafa is the father of Appellant. Both are Insureds under the Travelers policy.

Tracy—through her legal counsel—negotiated an agreement with Travelers, the primary insurance carrier for Appellant Mustafa. These negotiations culminated in a written agreement, titled “Covenant Not to Execute” (“2018 Agreement”). The 2018 Agreement was executed by Respondent Tracy, as well as Respondent Tracy’s attorney. (2018 Agreement, p. 6).

The 2018 Agreement provided for a \$175,000 payment to Respondent Tracy by Travelers, in exchange for, among other things, Appellant Mustafa’s protection from liability for any future judgment. (January 31, 2018, Agreement, p.1). The 2018 Agreement specifically provides that Travelers made this payment “by and on behalf of its Insureds” (including Appellant) to “end all obligations to pay any further sums” and to “protect the Insureds from any excess judgment which may be rendered.” (2018 Agreement, p.1).

The Agreement mandates, in plain and unambiguous language, that if any judgment for damages against the Insureds (including Appellant) arising out of a claim by Respondent is entered, Respondent will “promptly satisfy the judgment with respect to the amount of the consideration being paid under this agreement, and will file a certification of such satisfaction with the Clerk of Court in whose office the judgment is enrolled to be entered on the face of the judgment.” (2018 Agreement, p. 3-4, ¶ 6) (emphasis added). If a judgment is entered in excess of the \$175,000 consideration paid under the 2018 Agreement, Respondent must “promptly satisfy the judgment with respect to such excess and will file a certification of such satisfaction with the Clerk of Court in whose office the judgment is enrolled to be entered upon the face of the judgment.” (2018, Agreement, p.3-4, ¶ 6) (emphasis added).

The 2018 Agreement preserved Respondent Tracy’s right to proceed with a civil lawsuit against Appellant Mustafa, only “to effect settlement or verdict against the Insureds solely for the purpose of collecting excess liability insurance coverage and/or underinsured motorist coverage.”

(2018 Agreement, p.3 ¶¶ 3, 5, 11). Moreover, the 2018 Agreement provided that “when and if” excess liability or underinsured motorist coverage is paid, Respondent Tracy will “execute proper Releases relinquishing and releasing all of their rights to proceed against the Insureds and Travelers.” (2018 Agreement, p.5 ¶¶ 12).

C. The Ensuing Civil Lawsuit.

Several months after the 2018 Agreement was finalized and payment was tendered to Respondent, on May 11, 2018, Tracy sued Mustafa in the South Carolina Court of Common Pleas, asserting one claim for negligence arising from the August 6, 2016 motor vehicle accident. In response to the lawsuit, Travelers retained counsel to defend Mustafa. Mustafa, through counsel, timely answered the Complaint, denying any negligence and asserting affirmative defenses. (Answer).

Subsequently, two underinsured motorist (“UIM”) carriers for Respondent—State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Company (“State Farm”) and United Services Automobile Association (“USAA”)—appeared in the action pursuant to South Carolina Code Section 38-77-160, which allows a UIM carrier to appear and defend in the name of the underinsured motorist in any action that may affect its liability. (Notices of Appearance). In light of the appearances of the legal counsel retained by the UIM carriers, the trial court entered a Consent Order for Substitution of Counsel on January 23, 2019, relieving the legal counsel retained by Travelers in the matter and substituting the UIM legal counsel. (Substitution Order).

On February 11, 2022, the trial court dismissed UIM carriers State Farm and USAA from the action, pursuant to a policy release between Tracy and the UIM carriers, and relieved UIM legal counsel. Thus, as of February 11, 2022, Mustafa proceeded in the action *pro se*, with no legal counsel. (Consent Order Dismissing UIM Carriers).

D. The trial court imposes a harsh sanction—striking Mustafa’s Answer—for an unintentional discovery violation.

Believing that the 2018 Agreement fully resolved Respondent’s claims against him, Mustafa—a college student during the relevant time period—failed to appear for at least two noticed depositions. (Affidavit of Mustafa). Based on Mustafa’s failure to appear for depositions, on March 11, 2022, Respondent filed a Motion to Strike Appellant’s Answer. (Motion to Strike Defendant’s Answer). On June 1, 2022, the trial court issued a Form 4 Order Striking Mustafa’s Answer. (Transcript of June 1, 2022 Hearing). The entirety of the language in the Form 4 Order Striking Defendant’s Answer stated, “Plaintiff’s Motion to Strike Defendant’s Answer due to the defendant’s failure to participate in discovery is GRANTED.” (Form 4 Order on Motion to Strike).

E. Mustafa filed a Motion to Vacate the Order Striking Answer.

Just over nine months later, Travelers-retained defense counsel again appeared on behalf of Mustafa. Travelers-retained defense counsel moved to vacate the Order Striking Mustafa’s Answer. (Motion to Vacate). The Motion to Vacate explained that Mustafa had a good faith belief that he had “no continuing obligation to participate in any lawsuit that may be filed” as a result of the 2018 Agreement. (Affidavit of Mustafa ¶ 6).

Per Mustafa, no attorney contacted him about the depositions, despite multiple counsel appearing on his behalf at various times throughout the lawsuit. (Affidavit of Mustafa ¶ 10). Upon receiving a notice of deposition in January 2022, Mustafa consulted an attorney and concluded he did not need to appear because of the 2018 Agreement. (Affidavit of Mustafa ¶ 11).

Moreover, Mustafa highlighted his conversations with Tracy at the scene of the accident, which did not lead him to observe that she was injured in any way. This is consistent with the relevant Police Report, in which no injury was reported and no EMS transport requested. (Affidavit of Mustafa ¶ 17, Exhibit 1). Mustafa denied that any negligence on his part was a

proximate cause of any of the damages claimed by Tracy. (Affidavit of Mustafa ¶ 17).

F. Damages Hearing and Judgment.

On June 2 and 29, 2023, without an explicit on-the-record ruling on Mustafa’s Motion to Vacate the Order Striking his Answer,² the trial court held a damages-only hearing. (Transcript of June 2, 2023, and June 29, 2023 Hearings). Tracy submitted evidence, in the form of an Affidavit and supporting documents, of her alleged related medical expenses to date, lost wages, future medical expenses, pain and suffering, and future pain and suffering. (Amended Damages Hearing Exhibit Index and Exhibits). On June 20, 2023, Respondent also filed an Affidavit of Damages, requesting judgment be entered against Appellant in the total amount of \$4,198,672.14 in damages. Tracy requested entry of judgment in that amount. (Affidavit of Damages).

Two months after the damages-only hearing, the trial court entered an Order of Judgment stating that it had orally denied Mustafa’s Motion to Vacate at the damages-only hearing—even though the hearing transcript does not evidence a ruling as to the same.

The court then entered judgment for Tracy and against Mustafa in the requested amount: \$4,198,672.14. Specifically, on August 9, 2023, at 9:47:27 a.m., the trial court entered an Order of Judgment denying Appellant’s pending Motion to Vacate the June 1, 2022 Order Striking Appellant’s Answer orally at the June 2, 2023 hearing and proceeded with the damages portion of the hearing. (Order of Judgment). Subsequently, on August 9, 2023, at 9:47:32 a.m., the trial court issued a Form 4 Order noting that “This action came to trial or hearing before the court. The issues have been tried or heard,” and stating that a decision had been rendered and that a formal

² After argument on the Motion to Vacate, the trial court noted that it was “very reluctant to overturn something that another judge has already ordered . . . [h]e’s heard this exact same argument once before so (inaudible) set aside.” (June 2, 2023 Transcript p. 8). However, the transcript does explicitly evidence an order regarding the Motion to Vacate.

order would follow. (Form 4 Order of Judgment).

G. Post-Judgment Motions.

Pursuant to the plain terms of the 2018 Agreement, which provides that “Plaintiff agrees to promptly satisfy the judgment with respect to the amount of the consideration being paid under this agreement [\$175,000]” and “Plaintiff will promptly satisfy the judgment with respect to such excess [over \$175,000],” Tracy was responsible for satisfying the entire judgment. Based on these provisions of the 2018 Agreement, Mustafa moved for entry of an order reflecting his satisfaction of the \$4,198,672.14 judgment, pursuant to South Carolina Code Sections 14-17-280 and 15-35-180 and/or Rules 60 and 69 of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure. (Motion for Entry of Satisfaction of Judgment and Supporting Memorandum). In opposition, Tracy submitted extrinsic evidence, including emails from counsel for various insurance carriers and/or Mustafa and claim file entries purporting to show an ambiguity in the 2018 Agreement and/or demonstrate her unilateral belief that the contract’s plain language meant something other than what it unambiguously stated. (Tracy’s Memorandum in Opposition to Motion for Entry of Satisfaction and supporting Exhibits).

Mustafa also moved for relief from the judgment, requesting the trial court vacate the oral Order Denying his Motion to Vacate the Order Striking his Answer, vacate the Judgment, and/or provide relief from the Judgment, pursuant to Rules 60(a) and 60(b) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure.

After holding a hearing on Mustafa’s post-judgment Motions, on January 27, 2025, the court denied all relief. (Transcript of January 27, 2025 Hearing). The court reasoned that although the 2018 Agreement stated that Tracy would promptly satisfy any judgment, the parties could not have meant what they stated:

The Plaintiff entered into a Covenant Not to Execute with Travelers Insurance which references no fewer than seven times the fact that the Covenant is meant to preserve Plaintiff's right to recover excess liability and/or UIM coverage. (See paragraphs 4, 5, 9, and numbered paragraphs 3, 5, 11, and 12). Satisfaction in violation of the clear terms and intent of the Covenant would result in an unfair windfall to Defendant that neither Travelers, Plaintiff, or Defendant intended when entering into the Covenant Not to Execute.

(Form 4 Order Denying Motion for Entry of Satisfaction).

The court further held that there were no grounds for vacating the Order Striking Mustafa's Answer. The court reasoned that the ruling contained no mistakes or ambiguities, and suggested that Mustafa had delayed in seeking relief: "Defendant's motion to vacate was not filed until Mar. 17, 2023. Judge Price denied the motion on Aug. 9, 2023, and the instant motion was not filed until May 31, 2024." (Form 4 Order Denying Motion for Relief from Judgment).

Mustafa moved to reconsider the Orders denying his post-judgment Motions. (Motions to Reconsider). The trial court denied reconsideration, finding that Mustafa had not shown that the court "misunderstood, failed to fully consider, or failed to rule on an argument or issue before the Court." (Order Denying Defendant's Motion for Reconsideration as to its Motion for Relief; Order Denying Defendant's Motion for Reconsideration as to its Motion for Entry of Satisfaction). This appeal timely followed. (Notice of Appeal).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Order denying Mustafa's Motion for Satisfaction of Judgment, which turns on the proper construction of the 2018 Agreement, is reviewed *de novo*. *Hawkins v. Greenwood Dev. Corp.*, 328 S.C. 585, 592, 493 S.E.2d 875, 878 (Ct. App. 1997) ("The construction of a clear and unambiguous contract is a question of law for the court."). This Court owes no deference to the trial court's resolution of a legal issue. *Auto-Owners Ins. Co. v. Rhodes*, 405 S.C. 584, 593, 748 S.E.2d 781, 785 (2013).

The Orders denying Mustafa’s post-judgment Motions are reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *Raby Constr., L.L.P. v. Orr*, 358 S.C. 10, 17–18, 594 S.E.2d 478, 482 (2004). A trial court’s legal error automatically constitutes an abuse of discretion. *Delta Apparel, Inc. v. Farina*, 406 S.C. 257, 265, 750 S.E.2d 615, 619 (Ct. App. 2013) (“An abuse of discretion in setting aside a default judgment occurs when the [trial court] issuing the order was controlled by some error of law or when the order, based upon factual, as distinguished from legal conclusions, is without evidentiary support.”); *see also Kemp v. United States*, 596 U.S. 528, 534 (2022) (holding that Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 60(b)(1), on which South Carolina’s corresponding rule is based, includes “all mistakes of law made by a judge”).

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED AS A MATTER OF LAW IN DENYING MUSTAFA’S MOTION FOR ENTRY OF SATISFACTION.

A. The 2018 Agreement’s plain language unambiguously requires Tracy’s “prompt satisfaction” of the judgment.

South Carolina law regarding construction and interpretations of contracts is “well settled.” *Progressive Max Ins. Co. v. Floating Caps, Inc.*, 405 S.C. 35, 46, 747 S.E.2d 178, 183 (2013). “In construing a contract, it is axiomatic that the main concern of the court is to ascertain and give effect to the intention of the parties.” 405 S.C. at 46; 747 S.E.2d at 183. (quotations and citations omitted). If the contract language “is plain, unambiguous, and capable of only one reasonable interpretation, no construction is required and the contract’s language determines the instrument’s force and effect.” *Id.* (quotations and citations omitted); *see also Ellie, Inc. v. Miccichi*, 358 S.C. 78, 94, 594 S.E.2d 485, 493 (Ct. App. 2004) (“To discover the intention of a contract, the court must first look to its language—if the language is perfectly plain and capable of legal construction, it alone determines the documents force and effect.”). A covenant-not-to-execute is a contract and, as such, is subject to these precepts. *Progressive Max Ins. Co.*, 405 S.C. 35 at 46, 747 S.E.2d at

183 (“Covenants not to execute are treated as contracts and, as such, they are governed by general contract law.”).

Here, the language of the 2018 Agreement is plain and unambiguous. The 2018 Agreement reflects the parties’ mutual intent to protect Mustafa from any further liability. This mutual intent is evidenced in multiple provisions.

For example, the 2018 Agreement provides that Mustafa’s primary automobile liability insurer (Travelers) would pay Tracy \$175,000: “Travelers by and on behalf of its Insureds, desires to make payment of One Hundred Seventy-Five Thousand Dollars and 00/100 (\$175,000.00) Dollars” The contract goes on to state that this one-time payment would “thereby *end all obligations to pay any further sums and protect the Insureds from any excess judgment which may be rendered*[.]” (2018 Agreement p. 2) (emphasis added). This is precisely the protection that South Carolina courts view as being afforded by a liability carrier’s settlement payment on behalf of its insured. *E.g., Green v. McGee*, 441 S.C. 157, 169, 892 S.E.2d 520, 526 (Ct. App. 2023) (“[W]hen a liability insurance carrier provides funds for a settlement, the funds are provided to benefit its insured”), *reh’g denied* (Oct. 11, 2023), *cert. granted* (Nov. 13, 2024).

The 2018 Agreement further reflects Tracy’s agreement not to execute on any judgment against Mustafa, as consideration for the \$175,000.00 payment. (2018 Agreement p. 3, ¶ 2). Paragraph 6 provides that, in the event a judgment is entered against Mustafa, “Plaintiff agrees to *promptly* satisfy the judgment with respect to the amount of the consideration being paid . . . and will file a certification of such satisfaction with the Clerk of Court in whose office the judgment is enrolled to be entered on the face of the judgment.” (2018 Agreement p. 3-4, ¶ 6). Paragraph 6 also states that, in the event of a judgment in excess of the \$175,000 payment, Tracy will “*promptly* satisfy the judgment with respect to such excess and will file a certification of such satisfaction

....” (2018 Agreement p. 3-4, ¶ 6) (emphasis added).

Notably, the prompt satisfaction requirement of Paragraph 6 is not qualified by *any* contingencies—such as collection or payment from any excess liability carriers and/or underinsured carriers. Had the parties intended any such qualifications, they clearly knew how to impose them. For example, Paragraph 12 requires Tracy to execute a release relinquishing her rights to proceed against the Insureds and Travelers only “*when and if* excess liability insurance coverage and/or underinsured motorist coverage is paid” (2018 Agreement, p.5, ¶ 12) (emphasis added). This stands in stark contrast to Paragraph 6, which omits any similar language. Accordingly, the intentional omission of any qualifying language must be given effect. *See C.A.N. Enterprises, Inc. v. S.C. Health & Hum. Servs. Fin. Comm’n*, 296 S.C. 373, 377, 373 S.E.2d 584, 586 (1988). Tracy’s insistence upon collecting the judgment from Mustafa is a blatant violation of the 2018 Agreement’s unambiguous terms. In failing to promptly satisfy the judgment, Tracy failed and continues to fail to protect Mustafa from further liability. Mustafa has thereby been deprived of the benefit of the bargain.

The trial court erred as a matter of law in refusing to enforce the 2018 Agreement’s unambiguous terms. The Order denying Mustafa’s Motion for Entry of Satisfaction does not even mention Paragraph 6’s prompt satisfaction requirements. The Order also fails to give effect to the additional sections discussed above addressing the protections afforded to an insured from a judgment. (Form 4 Order Denying Motion for Entry of Satisfaction). Ignoring these provisions, the trial court instead focused solely on provisions discussing pursuit and recovery of excess liability coverage. (Form 4 Order Denying Motion for Entry of Satisfaction).

By selectively enforcing the contractual terms that inure to Tracy’s benefit, while at the same time disregarding the contractual terms that inure to Mustafa’s benefit, the court violated the

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