RECEIVED

Feb 24 2026

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY

The Honorable Kristi F. Curtis
Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2025-000403

Lauren Chambers Tracy,

Respondent,

v.

Elijah Osama Mustafa,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Jesse Sanchez
The Law Office of Jesse Sanchez, LLC
751 Johnnie Dodds Boulevard, Suite 200
Mount Pleasant, South Carolina 29464
(843) 814-8181

Jonathan S. Altman
Armand G. Derfner
Derfner & Altman, LLC
575 King Street, Suite B
Charleston, SC 29403
(843) 723-9804

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT
LAUREN CHAMBERS TRACY

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

Mustafa's insurance carrier and with actual notice of the final Judgment, USLI plainly could have ensured (along with his then-counsel) that Mustafa file a timely appeal.

Appellant cannot claim confusion about the finality of the judgment. The Form 4 Order explicitly stated "This order ends the case" and was accompanied by a detailed formal Order of Judgment awarding \$4,198,672.14—both filed simultaneously on August 9, 2023. (Orders, R. pp. 9-16, 17-22). Any suggestion that the judgment was somehow unclear or incomplete is belied by the record. (Id).

A. Appellant's Failure to Appeal the 2023 Judgment Deprives this Court of Appellate Jurisdiction.

Following Appellant's failure to timely appeal, the August 9, 2023 Judgment became final and is no longer subject to appellate review. As noted above, electronic notices of the Form 4 Order of Judgment and the formal Order of Judgment were sent to both Appellant's counsel and USLI's counsel contemporaneous with filing. (NEFs, August 9, 2023, R. pp. 15-16, 21-22). Pursuant to Rule 203(b)(1), SCACR, Appellant had thirty days from notice of entry of the judgment (i.e. September 8, 2023) to serve his Notice of Appeal. "A notice of appeal shall be served on all respondents within thirty (30) days after receipt of written notice of entry of the order or judgment." Rule 203(b)(1), SCACR.

Appellant did not seek reconsideration under Rule 59(e) or file an appeal within thirty days from notice of entry of the Judgment. As the South Carolina Supreme Court has repeatedly held, "The requirement of service of the notice of appeal is jurisdictional, i.e., if a party misses the deadline, the appellate court lacks jurisdiction to consider the appeal and has no authority or discretion to 'rescue' the delinquent party by extending or ignoring the deadline for service of the notice." *Elam v. S.C. Dep't of Transp.*, 361 S.C. 9, 14-15, 602 S.E.2d 772, 775 (2004). "An

unappealed ruling is the law of the case and requires affirmance.” *Transp. Ins. Co. & Flagstar Corp. v. S.C. Second Injury Fund*, 389 S.C. 422, 431, 699 S.E.2d 687, 691 (2010). Because Appellant failed to timely appeal the August 9, 2023 judgment, that judgment is now final and beyond this Court’s appellate jurisdiction. This alone warrants affirmance of the lower court’s judgment.

B. Rule 60(b) Cannot Substitute for a Timely Appeal.

South Carolina law is unequivocal that Rule 60(b) cannot serve as a substitute for an appeal. As the South Carolina Supreme Court stated in *Sadisco of Greenville, Inc. v. Greenville Cnty. Bd. of Zoning Appeals*, 340 S.C. 57, 59, 530 S.E.2d 383, 384 (2000), “This Court has consistently stated that service of the Notice of Appeal is a jurisdictional requirement, and this Court has no authority to extend or expand the time in which the Notice of Appeal must be served. [...] [I]f this Court were to allow a party to file a Rule 60 motion when a party fails to timely serve a Notice of Appeal, this Court would be exceeding its jurisdictional limits by allowing a party to extend or expand the time in which a Notice of Appeal may be served.” *Sadisco v. Greenville Bd. of Zoning*, 340 S.C. 57, 59, 530 S.E.2d 383 (2000) (internal citations omitted). “A party may not invoke [Rule 60, SCRCPP] where it could have pursued the issue on appeal.” *Tench v. S.C. Dep’t of Educ.*, 347 S.C. 117, 121, 122, 553 S.E.2d 451, 453 (2001).

Here, Appellant, purports to appeal the denial of two Rule 60(b) Motions. The first Rule 60(b) Motion was filed March 17, 2023—more than nine months after entry of the Order Striking Answer—and sought to vacate that Order based on alleged “mistake, inadvertence, surprise, or excusable neglect.” (Motion to Vacate, R. pp. 106-114). The trial court heard and verbally denied that motion on June 2, 2023. (H’rg Transcript, June 2, 2023, R. pp. 505:24-506:7). The written order denying the motion was then incorporated into the August 9, 2023

Order of Judgment, which noted the denial of the motion, awarded damages to Plaintiff, and ended the case. (Order of Judgment, R. pp. 17-22; Form 4 Order of Judgment, R. pp. 9-16).

The time to appeal that denial began to run on August 9, 2023, when both Appellant’s counsel and USLI’s counsel received electronic notice of entry of the Judgment. (NEFs, R. pp. 15-16, 21-22). Because Appellant failed to appeal this denial or the Judgment within thirty days, he cannot do so now.⁴

The second Rule 60(b) Motion, filed on filed May 31, 2024—nine months after entry of the August 9, 2023 Judgment—sought relief from both the Judgment and the June 1, 2022 Order Striking Answer. (Motion for Relief from Judgment, May 31, 2024, R. pp. 179-184). Because Appellant failed to timely appeal the August 9, 2023 Judgment or the June 1, 2022 Order Striking Answer when those opportunities existed, he cannot now use Rule 60(b) as a substitute. As this Court made clear in *Sadisco*, allowing Rule 60(b) to substitute for a missed appeal deadline “would be exceeding [the Court’s] jurisdictional limits.” 340 S.C. at 59, 530 S.E.2d at 384. That is precisely what Appellant asks this Court to do—extend a jurisdictional deadline that expired over a year ago. This Court lacks the authority to grant such relief.

⁴ Additionally, Appellant may have been required to immediately appeal the Order Striking Answer rather than waiting until after final judgment. Under South Carolina law, “An order affects a substantial right and is immediately appealable when it... (c) strikes out an answer or any part thereof or any pleading in any action.: S.C. Code Ann. § 14-3-330(2). As this Court held in *Hagood v. Sommerville*, 362 S.C. 191, 195, 607 S.E.2d 707, 709 (2005) with regards to orders affecting substantial rights under section 14-3-330(2), said orders “must be immediately appealed or any later objection in a subsequent appeal will be waived.” Because Judge Culbertson’s Order struck Appellant’s Answer in its entirety, it may have required immediate appeal under § 14-3-330(2)(c), and Appellant’s failure to appeal within thirty days may have waived any challenge to that Order. Regardless, Appellant did not even appeal the Order Striking Answer within thirty days of entry of the final judgment in this case.

C. Successive Rule 60(b) Motions Are Not Permitted.

Even if Appellant could overcome the prohibition against using Rule 60(b) as an appellate substitute, his second motion fails because it violates the bar against successive Rule 60(b) motions. Rule 60, SCRCP, is drawn from the Federal Rules, making federal precedent instructive. (See Rule 60, SCRCP, Notes). As Moore’s Federal Practice explains, “Because Rule 60(b) rulings are final and appealable, a party who is aggrieved by an adverse ruling on a Rule 60(b) motion must appeal it or waive any complaints about the ruling. A party may not simply file a second Rule 60(b) motion on the same grounds in lieu of an appeal.” Moore’s Federal Practice 3d, ¶60.69.

The Fifth Circuit applied this principle in *Latham v. Wells Fargo Bank*, 987 F.2d 1199 (5th Cir. 1993), rejecting an attempt to piggyback a 1992 motion onto a similar 1990 motion. Here, Appellant’s second Rule 60(b) motion attempts to piggyback on his previously denied Rule 60(b) motion. Both motions challenge the same underlying order—Judge Culbertson’s June 1, 2022 Order Striking Answer. The first motion alleged the order resulted from Appellant’s “mistake, inadvertence, surprise, or excusable neglect.” (Motion to Vacate, March 17, 2023, R. pp. 106-107). The second motion raises the same grounds, merely repackaged with additional arguments about the judgment itself. (Motion for Relief, May 31, 2024, R. pp. 179-184).

Appellant cannot cure his failure to appeal the denial of his first Rule 60(b) motion by filing a second one. Appellant’s remedy was to appeal that first denial, not to wait nine months and try again. Successive motions cannot cure the failure to appeal.

D. The Lower Court Did Not Abuse Its Discretion in Finding that Appellant Has Not Met the Burden of Showing Grounds for Relief Under Rule 60, SCRCP.

Even if Appellant’s Rule 60 challenges were properly preserved for appellate review—which they are not—the lower court correctly found Appellant “failed to meet his burden of

showing grounds under Rules 60(a) or 60(b), SCRCP.” (Order Denying Motion for Relief, R. pp. 23-25).

1. Appellant Does Not Meet the Requirements for Relief Under Rule 60(a), SCRCP.

Rule 60(a), SCRCP, permits correction of “clerical mistakes in judgments, orders or other parts of the record and errors therein arising from oversight or omission.” This narrow rule corrects clerical errors—not substantive disputes about the judgment itself.

South Carolina courts consistently distinguish between clerical errors (which can be corrected) and substantive disagreements (which cannot). In *Landry v. Landry*, 430 S.C. 153, 161, 843 S.E.2d 491, 495 (2020), the South Carolina Supreme Court explained that a mistake exists only where “‘there is an inconsistency between the text of an order or judgment and the...court’s intent when it entered the order or judgment,’ which ‘includes an unintended ambiguity that obfuscates the court’s original intent.’” (Ellipses in original). Clerical errors are “blunders in execution,” not instances where a party disagrees with what the court decided. *Id.*

In *Brown v. Brown*, 392 S.C. 615, 622, 709 S.E.2d 679, 683 (Ct. App. 2011), this Court rejected an attempt to use Rule 60(a) to “clarify” a divorce decree, holding, “The family court’s correction of clerical errors may not extend to ‘chang[ing] the scope of the judgment.’” Similarly, in *Dion v. Ravenel, Eiserhardt Associates*, 316 S.C. 226, 230, 449 S.E.2d 251, 254 (Ct. App. 1994), this Court reversed when a master tried to use Rule 60(a) to add property to a foreclosure description, explaining there was “no evidence of an ‘oversight’ or ‘omission’” but rather “the issue of whether or not it was included was never contemplated.”

Appellant’s complaints about the judgment are belied by the record. The Order of Judgment meticulously itemizes each component of the \$4,198,672.14 award, including \$479,718.85 in past medical expenses, \$98,176.00 in lost wages, \$1,330,777.29 in future medical

expenses, and \$2,290,000.00 in pain and suffering. (R. p. 18). The court explicitly deemed this amount “just and reasonable” based on testimony about Tracy’s “severe and permanent injuries.” (R. p. 19). Any suggestion that the judgment is unclear, incomplete, or contains clerical errors is contradicted by this detailed, itemized order that reflects precisely what the court intended after hearing the evidence.

Appellant’s suggestion that some additional order was supposed to be issued finds no support in the record. The trial court filed both a Form 4 Order of Judgment and a formal Order of Judgment simultaneously on August 9, 2023. (R. pp. 9-16; 17-22). The Form 4’s notation about an “attached” or “following” formal order refers to the Order of Judgment filed the same day—not some phantom document that never materialized. (R. p. 9). Both documents are complete. Both state the judgment amount. The Form 4 explicitly states “This order ends the case.” (R. p. 9). There is no missing document, no incomplete judgment, no clerical error to correct.

Even if Appellant believed another document should have been issued, that would not constitute a clerical error under Rule 60(a). A clerical error involves mistakes in existing documents—typos, transcription errors, mathematical miscalculations. The complete absence of a document Appellant thinks should exist is not a “clerical mistake” that can be corrected under Rule 60(a).

The trial court properly found “no clerical mistakes or ambiguities which would give rise to relief under Rule 60(a).” (Form 4 Order Denying Motion for Relief, R. p. 23). Appellant identifies no typo, no mathematical error, no transcription mistake—only his not-so-veiled disagreement with the court’s damages determination. That is a substantive dispute, not a clerical error.

Appellant’s transparent request is for Tracy to simply forfeit her judgment. But Rule 60(a) does not permit a party to escape a judgment by claiming clerical error where none exists. The rule corrects typos, not regrets. This is not a typo to be corrected—it is a judgment to be satisfied.

As *Thompson v. Thompson* confirms, Rule 60(a) cannot be used to modify court-ordered awards except for the correction of clerical errors, emphasizing that “the court’s correcting of clerical errors may not extend to ‘changing the scope of the judgment.’” 428 S.C. 142, 149, 833 S.E.2d 274, 278 (Ct. App. 2019) (internal citations omitted).

That is exactly what Appellant seeks here—a do-over on the court’s exercise of judgment regarding damages.

2. Appellant’s Rule 60(b) Motion is Time-Barred.

Motions brought under Rule 60(b)(1), (2), or (3) must be filed within one year of the judgment or order. *Narruhn v. Alea London Ltd.*, 404 S.C. 337, 340, 745 S.E.2d 90, 91-92 (2013) (“Motions under Rule 60(b)(1), (2), or (3) must be made within a reasonable time, **but not later than one year of the order taken**”) (Emphasis added). This one-year deadline is mandatory and jurisdictional - it cannot be extended or excused.

Judge Culbertson struck Appellant’s answer on June 1, 2022. (Order Striking Answer, R. pp. 6-8). To challenge that order under Rule 60(b)(1) for “mistake, inadvertence, surprise, or excusable neglect,” Appellant had until June 1, 2023—one year from entry of the order. Appellant’s second Rule 60(b) motion, filed May 31, 2024, arrived nearly two years after the Order Striking Answer and nearly twelve months beyond the mandatory deadline.

Appellant cannot escape this jurisdictional bar by recharacterizing his motion. His second Rule 60(b) motion purports to challenge the unappealed August 9, 2023 Judgment, but this is

merely an attempt to circumvent the one-year deadline. While Appellant now appeals the trial court's denial of this second motion, the motion itself was untimely because it sought relief from the June 1, 2022 Order well beyond the one-year deadline. As Tracy correctly observed in her memorandum in opposition to the motion, this second Rule 60(b) motion is really about the striking of Appellant's Answer by Judge Culbertson. Framing the motion in this manner does not make it timely. (MIO to Rule 60 Motion, January 24, 2025, at R. p. 333). The substance of the motion—not its caption—controls. Appellant seeks the same relief he sought in his first Rule 60(b) motion: vacatur of the June 1, 2022 Order Striking Answer. He cannot reset the one-year clock by filing successive motions challenging the same order.

Even more troubling, Appellant already filed a Rule 60(b)(1) motion challenging the June 1, 2022 Order on March 17, 2023—within the one-year deadline. That motion was denied on June 2, 2023 and incorporated in the August 9, 2023 Order of Judgment. (Order of Judgment, R. pp. 17-22). Having failed to appeal that denial, Appellant cannot now file a second Rule 60(b)(1) motion seeking identical relief. The one-year deadline is not renewable through successive filings. Once the year expires—or once a timely Rule 60(b) motion is denied without appeal—that avenue for relief is permanently closed.

Our Appellate Courts have consistently enforced Rule 60(b)'s temporal requirements. In *Narruhn v. Alea London Ltd.*, for example, the South Carolina Supreme Court reiterated that while Rule 60(b)(4) and (5) motions need only be filed within a reasonable time, motions under subsections (1), (2), and (3) are subject to the strict one-year time limit. 404 S.C. 337, 340, 745 S.E.2d 90, 91-92 (2013).

Appellant's second Rule 60(b) motion, filed nearly two years after the Order Striking Answer, violates this mandatory deadline. The trial court correctly recognized this defect, noting

in its order: “Defendant’s Answer was struck on June 1, 2022. Defendant’s motion to vacate was not filed until Mar. 17, 2023. [The first Rule 60(b) motion was] denied on Aug. 9, 2023, and the instant motion was not filed until May 31, 2024.” (Form 4 Order Denying Motion for Relief, R. p. 23). A motion filed two years after the challenged order cannot satisfy a one-year deadline. The trial court correctly denied this untimely motion.

3. Appellant Does Not Meet the Requirements for Relief Under Rule 60(b)(1), SCRCP.

Rule 60(b)(1), SCRCP, permits relief for “mistake, inadvertence, surprise, or excusable neglect.” Appellant’s two-year pattern of willful discovery violations cannot constitute excusable neglect. The record establishes deliberate defiance, not excusable neglect:

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